Case No. 24-300

---

**HEARTLAND LEASING CO., LLC d/b/a BECKLEY HEALTHCARE CENTER,  
WV LT CARE OP. CO., LLC,  
HEALTH CARE FACILITY MANAGEMENT, LLC,  
COMMUNICARE HEALTH SERVICES, INC.**  
*Defendants Below and Petitioners*

v.

**STEPHEN VANDALL, as Administrator of the  
Estate of KATHRYN SHUMAKER**  
*Plaintiff Below and Respondent*

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONERS**

---

*Counsel for Petitioners*

Andrew P. Smith (12338)  
Stacey L. Richards-Minigh (9711)  
Mattie F. Shuler (14480)  
STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC  
825 Third Avenue, Suite 400  
Huntington, West Virginia 25701  
(304) 522-8290  
[andrew.smith@steptoe-johnson.com](mailto:andrew.smith@steptoe-johnson.com)

### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Arbitration Agreement contains a delegation provision, which Mr. Vandall did not challenge, so the circuit court improperly denied the Facility's motion to compel arbitration.
2. The Facility reasonably relied on Mr. Vandall's apparent authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement as his mother's agent, so the circuit court improperly denied the motion to compel arbitration.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Beckley Healthcare Center (Facility) is a skilled nursing facility that offers short and long-term rehabilitation, physical therapy services, wound care, and hospice care. Upon arrival, new residents are assessed for physical and mental limitations. And then, if capable, asked to review and sign admission contracts, including an optional Arbitration Agreement.

Kathryn Shumaker arrived at Beckley Healthcare Center with physical limitations. Ms. Shumaker's right leg was amputated above the knee. JA\_005. She had a surgical incision on her right stump, a surgical incision on her groin, a dressing on her coccyx area, and Stage II wounds to her sacrum and left buttock. *Id.* She was incontinent of bladder and bowel and at risk for skin breakdown. *Id.* Ms. Shumaker required assistance with bed mobility, transfers, and personal hygiene. *Id.*

Despite her physical restrictions, Ms. Shumaker suffered no mental ailments. She scored "cognitively intact" on her federally mandated BIMS or "Brief Interview for Mental Status" screening. *Id.* at 093. A physical therapist noted her independent functional cognition. *Id.* at 095. An occupational therapist identified she could understand others and express her own ideas and desires. *Id.* at 097. And perhaps most importantly, a board-

certified physician interviewed Ms. Shumaker, found she was of sound and capable mind, and determined she possessed decision-making capacity. *Id.* at 099.

Ms. Shumaker's capacity assessment confirmed that she was able to receive, understand, and consent to the terms of her admission contracts. And so, following standard procedure, the Facility Admissions Coordinator directly delivered them to her. *Id.* at 105. Upon delivery, the Admissions Coordinator explained the contracts, ensured Ms. Shumaker understood them, and gave her time to consult with others if she desired. *Id.* Ms. Shumaker chose to involve her son, Respondent Stephen Vandall, and he signed or declined every admission contract—required or optional. *Id.* at 106–125.

All told, Mr. Vandall signed 12 contracts for Ms. Shumaker, affecting her legal, financial, privacy, and medical rights, including: (1) Consent to Treat; (2) Admissions Agreement; (3) Assignment of Benefits; (4) Authorization to Share Medical Information; (5) PCC Photo Consent; (6) Responsible Party Agreement; (7) Vendor Consultation Consent; (8) Medical Marijuana Facility Consent; (9) Receipt of Information; (10) Non-Smoking Facility Consent; (11) Policies and Standard Procedures; and (12) the Arbitration Agreement. *Id.* Of these contracts, the Vendor Consultation Consent was refused. *Id.* at 119. The Authorization to Share Medical Information was limited. *Id.* at 114. And the ten remaining contracts—including the optional Arbitration Agreement—were signed and entered by Mr. Vandall on his mother's behalf. *Id.* at 106–125.

When an incoming resident like Ms. Shumaker has physician-certified capacity and then receives an admission consult, it is not unusual for them to involve a relative. *Id.* at 105.

So, for arbitration agreements, signatories must also certify their authority to sign it. Beneath Mr. Vandall's signature on his mother's Arbitration Agreement, he did so. Specifically, Mr. Vandall represented to the Facility that he was authorized to sign the Arbitration Agreement on his mother's behalf "either by virtue of guardianship, power of attorney, some other legal status or informal agreement between the Resident and the signing party, or is otherwise designated the responsible party by operation of law." *Id.* at 091. And he acknowledged that by signing the Arbitration Agreement, "the Facility relies upon the representation." *Id.*

After Ms. Shumaker completed the admission process with her son, she began her residency at Beckley Healthcare Center. But over the next seven weeks, her physical health declined, and she left for further care at Raleigh General Hospital. *Id.* at 006. One month later, on October 26, 2022, Ms. Kathryn Ann Shumaker passed away at the age of 80. *Id.*

One year later, her son filed suit against Heartland Leasing Co., LLC d/b/a Beckley Healthcare Center, WV LT Care Op. Co., LLC, Health Care Facility Management, LLC, and CommuniCare Health Services, Inc., alleging his mother received negligent care during her residency at Beckley Healthcare Center. *Id.* at 002. Specifically, Mr. Vandall asserted claims against Petitioners for negligence, violations of the Nursing Home Act, corporate negligence, respondeat superior, and wrongful death. *Id.*

The Facility moved to compel arbitration, asserting the Arbitration Agreement, and noting its delegation provision requiring all disputes related to the Agreement itself be settled by arbitration. JA\_035. Mr. Vandall opposed arbitration, arguing he did not possess

actual or apparent authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement on his mother's behalf. *Id.* at 056. But critically, Mr. Vandall failed to acknowledge or separately challenge the Arbitration Agreement's delegation provision. *Id.*

The Facility replied, identified Mr. Vandall's failure to challenge the delegation provision, and asked the court to defer the validity challenge to an arbitrator or a three-person arbitration panel. *Id.* at 075. The Facility also provided evidence that it reasonably relied on Mr. Vandall's apparent authority to sign his mother's Arbitration Agreement. *Id.* A hearing was held. *Id.* at 126. Again, the Facility sought to enforce the delegation provision, and again, Mr. Vandall did not challenge it. *Id.* at 136. Instead, Mr. Vandall maintained that he lacked authority to enter into an Arbitration Agreement for his mother. *Id.*

The circuit court then declined to send the action to arbitration, and in its order, failed to acknowledge or address the delegation provision. *Id.* at 143. Rather, the circuit court held that Ms. Shumaker's failure to exercise her "legal ability to make Plaintiff her attorney-in-fact" made her "the singular proper party to sign the Arbitration Agreement." *Id.* at 147. And further, that the Facility failed to offer evidence "other than the self-serving squib below the signature line of the Agreement" demonstrating it reasonably relied on Plaintiff's apparent authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement. *Id.* at 148.

The Facility now asks this Court to enforce the Arbitration Agreement's uncontested delegation provision, or alternatively, hold the Arbitration Agreement is valid and enforceable. In either event, this Court should reverse the circuit court and direct entry of an order compelling this action to arbitration, consistent with the parties' agreement.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

When Beckley Healthcare Center presented Kathryn Shumaker with her admission contracts, Ms. Shumaker was of sound and capable mind to enter an agency relationship. She chose to do so. Ms. Shumaker's son, Stephen Vandall, signed 12 contracts as his mother's agent, affecting her legal, financial, privacy, and medical rights. But now, Mr. Vandall claims he lacked authority to sign one of those 12 contracts—the Arbitration Agreement. He is estopped from doing so because the Facility reasonably relied on Mr. Vandall's apparent authority to sign his mother's contracts.

Regardless, it was not proper for the circuit court to decide the issue of validity. The Arbitration Agreement contains a clear and uncontested delegation provision, delegating all gateway issues of enforceability to an arbitrator or three-person arbitration panel. Mr. Vandall failed to separately and specifically challenge this provision. And this was fatal to the circuit court's jurisdiction. This Court should, therefore, reverse the circuit court's decision and direct entry of an order compelling arbitration.

## **ORAL ARGUMENT STATEMENT**

For two reasons, this case is suitable for oral argument under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. To the first assignment of error, the circuit court erred in applying settled law. To the second, the circuit court erred in assessing the weight of evidence presented.

## ARGUMENT

The circuit court committed error twice. For one, this Court should reverse the circuit court because it usurped the Arbitration Agreement's uncontested delegation provision. For another, this Court should reverse the circuit court because it erroneously concluded that the Facility did not support its reasonable reliance on Mr. Vandall's apparent authority. Both errors are independent grounds for reversal. And therefore, this Court should reverse the circuit court and direct entry of an order compelling arbitration.

**1. The circuit court usurped the Arbitration Agreement's uncontested delegation provision when it failed to send the issue of validity to an arbitrator.**

The Arbitration Agreement delegated gateway issues of enforceability to an arbitrator. And the delegation provision was left uncontested three times. First, by Mr. Vandall, when he failed to specifically and separately challenge the provision in his briefing. Again, when Mr. Vandall didn't address the provision at the hearing. And a third time, when the circuit court failed to acknowledge the provision in its order. In the face of such a clear record, this Court should correct course, reverse the circuit court, and direct entry of an order compelling the issue of validity to arbitration.

**a. *The delegation provision is severable.***

To overcome judicial resistance to arbitration, Congress enacted the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA), 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-16. And this Court's "application of the FAA must be consistent with the Supreme Court's interpretations of that law." *Schumacher Homes of Circleville, Inc. v. Spencer*, 787 S.E.2d 650, 661 (W. Va. 2016). Under Section 3 of the FAA, a party may move for a stay of litigation "upon any issue referable to arbitration under an

agreement in writing for such arbitration.” 9 U.S.C. § 3. And under Section 4, a party may move to compel arbitration “in the manner provided for in such agreement.” *Id.* at § 4.

Section 2 is the “primary substantive provision” of the FAA, as well as the mechanism for challenging the validity of an arbitration agreement. *Rent-A-Ctr., W., Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 67, 70 (2010). It embodies the national policy favoring arbitration and places arbitration agreements on equal footing with all other contracts:

A written provision in a contract to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract or an agreement in writing to submit to arbitration an existing controversy arising out of such a contract shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.

*Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna*, 546 U.S. 440, 443–44 (2006) (cleaned up).

There are two types of validity challenges under Section 2, and the distinction is important. *Id.* at 444. The first is a challenge to a specific written agreement to arbitrate. *Id.* The second challenges a contract entirely. *Id.* Only the first “is relevant to a court’s determination whether the arbitration agreement at issue is enforceable.” *Rent-A-Ctr.*, 561 U.S. at 70. This is because Section 2 “states that a ‘written provision to settle by arbitration a controversy is valid, irrevocable, and enforceable’ *without mention* of the validity of the contract in which it is contained.” *Id.* (cleaned up). Stated another way, Section 2 applies to specific written provisions to arbitrate. *Id.* at 72. And so, “a party’s challenge to another provision of the contract, or to the contract as a whole, does not prevent a court from enforcing a specific agreement to arbitrate.” *Id.* at 70.

Put simply, written provisions to arbitrate are severable. And for delegation provisions, it “makes no difference” whether “the underlying contract is itself an arbitration agreement.” *Id.* at 72. Which, in this case, it is. The delegation clause at issue here is contained within the Arbitration Agreement, and it is expressly permitted by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 2–4, and the West Virginia Revised Uniform Arbitration Act, W. Va. Code § 55-10-8(a). But perhaps most importantly, the delegation clause “clearly and unmistakably” gives an arbitrator or three-person arbitration panel the power to decide “the validity, revocability or enforceability” of the Arbitration Agreement “under general state contract law”:

**All Other Disputes.** Any dispute disagreement, or claim of any kind arising out of, or related to the Agreement ... shall be settled exclusively by binding arbitration as set forth in Section C below. (This arbitration clause is meant to apply to all disputes, disagreements or claims including, but not limited to, all breach of contract claims, non-payment claims, all negligence and malpractice claims, wrongful death claims, all tort claims, and all allegations of fraud in the inducement or requests for rescission of the contract.)

JA\_053; *Schumacher II*, 787 S.E.2d at 654.

Suffice it to say, unless Mr. Vandall challenged the delegation provision specifically below, this Court must treat it as valid under Section 2 and enforce it under Sections 3 and 4, leaving any challenge to the validity of the Agreement as a whole for the arbitrator. *Rent-A-Ctr.*, 561 U.S. at 72.

**b. *Mr. Vandall failed to separately and directly challenge the delegation provision.***

The crux of Mr. Vandall’s challenge is that the Arbitration Agreement *as a whole* is invalid for lack of competent parties. And the doctrine of severability is clear: “where a

delegation provision gives to an arbitrator the authority to determine whether the arbitration agreement is valid, a trial court is precluded from deciding a party's challenge to the arbitration agreement." Syl. Pt. 5, *Schumacher II*, 787 S.E.2d 650 (cleaned up). Therefore, to bring his challenge to the agreement *as a whole* within a trial court's province, Mr. Vandall was required to specifically and separately challenge the delegation provision. *See Rent-A-Center*, 561 U.S. at 72; *Schumacher*, 237 W. Va. at 663. But he didn't.

Put simply, a delegation provision "must be separated from its parent arbitration contract and directly challenged in the trial court." *State ex rel. Williams WPC-I, LLC v. Cramer*, No. 21-0423, 2021 WL 5411449, at \*2 (W. Va. Nov. 19, 2021) (memorandum decision). And "separately challenged" means a party must "sever and contest the validity of the delegation language in the arbitration agreement with particularity." *Schumacher II*, 237 W. Va. at 392. If the delegation provision "is not separately challenged, then it is presumed valid and must be enforced." *Cramer*, 2021 WL 5411449, at \*2.

Mr. Vandall twice failed to acknowledge—let alone sever—his challenge to the Arbitration Agreement's delegation provision. He first left the delegation provision uncontested in his response opposing arbitration. JA\_056. And did so again at the hearing. *Id.* at 136. To be clear, Mr. Vandall was not without notice of the Facility's intent to enforce the delegation provision. In fact, the Facility told him so when it moved to compel arbitration:

Furthermore, the Arbitration Agreement contains delegation language referring any challenges to its enforceability to arbitration. *See* Exhibit A at p.3 ("Any dispute, disagreement, or claim of any kind arising out of, or related to the Agreement ... shall be settled exclusively by binding arbitration

... This arbitration clause is meant to apply to all disputes, disagreements or claims ... [.]”); *see also Golden Eagle Res., II, L.L.C. v. Willow Run Energy, L.L.C.*, 242 W. Va. 372, 378, 836 S.E.2d 23, 29 (2019) (“[I]f an arbitration agreement contains a delegation provision, then the parties cannot initially challenge the arbitration agreement in the circuit court.”).

*Id.* at 046–47.

In response, Mr. Vandall challenged the agreement *as a whole*. *Id.* at 056. And by failing to sever and challenge the delegation provision, it was left uncontested. Under these circumstances, the circuit court should have compelled arbitration. However, the circuit court ruled on the agreement *as a whole*, and it did so without addressing or acknowledging the delegation provision. *Id.* at 143. This usurped the delegation provision, and it was clear error. This Court should, therefore, reverse the circuit court and direct entry of an order compelling the case to arbitration, where Mr. Vandall may then challenge the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement.

**2. Mr. Vandall had apparent authority to act as his mother’s agent, so the Arbitration Agreement is valid and enforceable.**

Even if the Arbitration Agreement did not contain a delegation provision, the Arbitration Agreement is valid. The central issue here is whether Ms. Shumaker’s son was a competent party to sign the Arbitration Agreement. For two reasons, the circuit court erred in concluding he was not. For one, the absence of actual authority does not *per se* bar enforcement of an arbitration agreement—a resident without capacity does. For another, the Facility presented sufficient evidence to show that it reasonably relied on the apparent authority of Ms. Shumaker’s son. As a result, this Court should reverse the circuit court’s judgment and direct entry of an order compelling this action to arbitration.

a. *The absence of actual authority does not bar enforcement of the Arbitration Agreement.*

Over the past decade, this Court has created a distinct body of caselaw addressing the enforceability of arbitration agreements between nursing facilities and a resident's family members. *See e.g., Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp.*, 729 S.E.2d 217, 230 fn. 52 (W. Va. 2012) (brother and wife's authority to sign needed factual development); *State ex rel. AMFM, LLC v. King*, 740 S.E.2d 66 (W. Va. 2013) (daughter's authority limited to health care decisions); *AMFM LLC v. Shanklin on behalf of Est. of Nelson*, 818 S.E.2d 882, 891 (W. Va. 2018) (daughter had authority as "alternate" durable power of attorney); *Beckley Health Partners, Ltd. v. Hoover*, 875 S.E.2d 337, 345 (W. Va. 2022) (daughter-healthcare surrogate did not establish authority by ratification, estoppel, unilateral contract, or assent). Of those cases, the *King-Hoover* duo is dispositive to this appeal.

To start, the *King-Hoover* duo recognized that in nursing facilities, arbitration agreements are enforceable under traditional theories of contract and agency law. There's a simple reason for this. Arbitration agreements are contracts, and therefore, they require "(1) competent parties; (2) legal subject matter; (3) valuable consideration; and (4) mutual assent." *King*, 740 S.E.2d at 73. Here, Mr. Vandall challenges the first requirement—his status as a competent party—and this is the same element at issue in the *King-Hoover* duo.

The element of competent parties depends on whether "the person or entity signing the Arbitration Agreement had the authority to do so." *Id.* (cleaned up). So, when a person's authority to sign an arbitration agreement is questioned, "the analysis, then, requires nothing more than an examination of basic principles of agency." *Nelson*, 818 S.E.2d at 892

(J. Workman, dissenting). And generally, there are two ways to create an agency relationship—actual or apparent authority.

In the end, apparent authority turns on two primary factors. *First*, a signatory must have acted “within the apparent authority that the principal has knowingly permitted the agent to assume.” *Thompson v. Stuckey*, 300 S.E.2d 295, 299 (W. Va. 1983). *And second*, the person seeking to show apparent agency, “must evidence that he or she believed that the alleged agent was acting on the authority of another and this belief was reasonable under the circumstances.” *All Med, LLC v. Randolph Eng'g Co., Inc.*, 228 W.Va. 634, 641, 723 S.E.2d 864, 871 (2012) (per curiam) (“in seeking to show apparent agency, a person also must evidence that he or she believed that the alleged agent was acting on the authority of another and this belief was reasonable under the circumstances.”). If these conditions are met, the signatory “is estopped to deny the agency relationship.” Syl. Pt. 1, *Gen. Electric Credit Corp. v. Fields*, 133 S.E.2d 780 (W. Va. 1963).

All things considered, authority to enter an arbitration agreement is not exclusive to Ms. Shumaker. And the *King-Hoover* duo plainly rejects the circuit court’s determination that a resident is the “singular proper party to sign” an arbitration agreement. JA\_147. Or further, that a resident may only form an agency relationship through formal legal arrangements. *Id.* Rather, agency law applies here. And evidence shows Mr. Vandall held apparent authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement on his mother’s behalf.

**b. *Ms. Shumaker was of sound and capable mind to enter an agency relationship.***

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