IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Oct 03 2024
11:32AM EDT
Transaction ID 74662966

CASE NO. 24-300

**HEARTLAND LEASING CO., LLC d/b/a BECKLEY HEALTHCARE CENTER,
WV LT CARE OP. CO., LLC,
HEALTH CARE FACILITY MANAGEMENT, LLC, and
COMMUNICARE HEALTH SERVICES, INC.**

Defendants Below, Petitioners

v.

STEPHEN VANDALL, as Administrator of the Estate of KATHRYN SHUMAKER

Plaintiff Below, Respondent

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Counsel for Respondent

Ryan J. Duty, Esq. (WV ID No. 11509)
ryan@seniorjustice.com

Catherine E. George, Esq. (WV ID No. 14420)
catherine@seniorjustice.com

SENIOR JUSTICE LAW FIRM
100 Fifth Avenue, Ste. 409
Pittsburgh, PA 15222
(412) 547-3279

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court did not err in declining to send this action to arbitration. Where the making of an arbitration agreement is at issue, the court must decide whether the parties have formed a valid contract pursuant to state law rules of contract formation. Whether a person ostensibly signing as an agent was a competent party to the arbitration agreement is encompassed within the statutory issue of the making of the arbitration agreement as provided by Section 4 of the Federal Arbitration Act. Mr. Vandall lacked the requisite authority to sign the admissions documents, including the Arbitration Agreement, on behalf of Ms. Shumaker. As such, he was not a competent party to the agreement and no contract was formed.

A dispute over the enforceability of a delegation provision leads to a question of whether the parties clearly and unmistakably agreed to arbitrate the issue of arbitrability. The court must decide whether the parties have formed a valid contract even where the contract contains a severable delegation provision, as in the present case, because the non-existence of a container contract necessarily implicates a party's non-assent to the formation of the contract. Because no

container contract was formed here, the delegation clause contained therein is likewise invalid. As the Federal Arbitration Act requires a court to decide whether an agreement to arbitrate exists before it may order arbitration, the circuit court was correct in examining whether a valid arbitration agreement existed and in determining that such an agreement did not exist and could not bind Respondent's claims to arbitration.

Petitioners' reliance on Mr. Vandall's apparent authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Ms. Shumaker is not reasonable. Where a person deals with an agent, it is his duty to ascertain the extent of the agency. Petitioners have offered no evidence to show that Mr. Vandall had authority to sign the Arbitration Agreement beyond a squib below the signature line which states that "the Facility relies upon representation of the individual signing this document as having the authorization to sign on behalf of the Resident." Petitioners have also offered no evidence as to why the admission documents were not presented and executed according to the standard procedures described by the Admissions Coordinator.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the ruling of the Circuit Court denying Petitioners' Motion to Compel Arbitration.

ORAL ARGUMENT STATEMENT

If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court correctly resolved the disputed threshold question of material fact over the existence of a valid arbitration agreement in determining that an agreement to arbitrate was not formed.

The crux of Petitioners’ argument is that the Arbitration Agreement at issue contains a delegation provision which gives an arbitrator or arbitration panel the power to decide “the validity, revocability or enforceability” of the Arbitration Agreement, and that Mr. Vandall’s alleged failure to challenge the delegation provision warrants reversal of the circuit court’s decision and entry of an order compelling arbitration “consistent with the parties’ agreement.” Pet. Brief at 4. However, Petitioners’ position rests on the assumption that a valid agreement was formed. As more fully explained herein, the circuit court did not err in declining to compel this matter to arbitration because it alone had jurisdiction to decide the threshold question regarding the existence of a valid Arbitration Agreement—a question which it correctly answered.

a. Arbitration is a matter of contract between parties, and where the making of an arbitration agreement is at issue, the court must decide whether the parties have formed a valid contract.

The Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) rests on the fundamental principle that arbitration is a matter of contract. 9 U.S.C. § 1 *et seq.* The purpose of the FAA is for courts to “treat arbitration agreements like any other contract.” Syl. Pt. 7, *Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp.*, 228 W. Va. 646, 724 S.E.2d 250 (2011), *overruled on other grounds by Marmet Health Care Center, Inc. v. Brown*, 565 U.S. 530 (2012). An agreement to arbitrate, like other contractual agreements, is subject to the rules of contract formation and interpretation. “[A]rbitration is simply a matter of contract between the parties; it is a way to resolve those disputes - but only those disputes - that the parties have agreed to submit to arbitration.” *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 943 (1995).

Before referring a dispute to an arbitrator under the FAA, the court determines whether a valid arbitration agreement was formed. *See Coinbase, Inc. v. Suski*, 144 S.Ct. 1186 (2024).

Section 4 of the FAA provides:

The court shall hear the parties, and upon being satisfied that the making of the agreement for arbitration or the failure to comply therewith is not in issue, the court shall make an order directing the parties to proceed to arbitration in accordance with the terms of the agreement . . . If the making of the arbitration agreement or the failure, neglect, or refusal to perform the same be in issue, the court shall proceed summarily to the trial thereof. If no jury trial be demanded by the party alleged to be in default, or if the matter in dispute is within admiralty jurisdiction, the court shall hear and determine such issue.

9 U.S.C. § 4. A court should order arbitration to proceed only once it is satisfied that “the making of the agreement for arbitration or the failure to comply (with the arbitration agreement) is not in issue.” *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 403 (1967). Where the existence of the agreement to arbitrate is in issue, the statute commands that the court “shall proceed summarily to the trial thereof.” *Id.* at 403 n. 11. Thus Section 4 requires that the court – rather than an arbitrator – decide whether the parties have formed an agreement to arbitrate. If there is in fact a dispute as to whether an agreement to arbitrate exists, then that issue must first be determined by the court as a prerequisite to the arbitrator's taking jurisdiction. *See John Wiley & Sons, Inc. v. Livingston*, 376 U.S. 543, 547 (1964). *See also Granite Rock Co. v. Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters*, 561 U.S. 287, 296 (2010) (explaining that a dispute over the formation of agreement to arbitrate “is generally for court[] to decide”); *Rowland v. Sandy Morris Financial & Estate Planning Services, LLC*, 993 F.3d 253 (4th Cir. 2021) (“Section 4 of the FAA has made clear that it is up to courts to determine whether a contract has been formed, and the district court properly heeded that call. This respects autonomy and the general principles of contract law.”).

b. The instant case presents an issue with the making of the arbitration agreement and was properly decided by the district court.

There is an important distinction between arguments challenging the *validity* of an agreement versus those challenging an agreement's *formation*. See *Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna*, 546 U.S. 440, 444 n. 1 (2006) ("The issue of the contract's validity is different from the issue [of] whether any agreement . . . was ever concluded. Our opinion today addresses only the former.") A challenge to formation of a contract can be done by showing that one party never agreed to the terms of the contract, that a signatory did not possess the authority to commit the principal, or that the signor lacked the mental capacity to assent. *Id.* Thus whether a person ostensibly signing as an agent was, in fact, a competent party to the arbitration agreement is encompassed within the statutory issue of "the making of the arbitration agreement" as provided by the Section 4 of the FAA. As such, the circuit court was required to utilize state law contract principles to decide whether the parties have formed an agreement to arbitrate. See *Brown*, 228 W.Va. at 674 ("Whether an arbitration agreement was validly formed is evaluated under state law principles of contract formation.")

Whether an agreement to arbitrate was formed is a question of "ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts." *First Options*, 514 U.S. at 944. In West Virginia, "an arbitration agreement must conform to the rules governing contracts, generally." *State ex rel. AMFM, LLC v. King*, 230 W. Va. 471, 478, 740 S.E.2d 66, 73 (2013). "The fundamentals of a legal contract are competent parties, legal subject matter, valuable consideration and mutual assent. There can be no contract if there is one of these essential elements upon which the minds of the parties are not in agreement." Syl. Pt. 3, *Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Nelson*, 230 W.Va. 281, 737 S.E.2d 550 (2012) (internal citations omitted). See also *State ex rel. AMFM, LLC*, 740 S.E. 2d at 73 ("[T]o be valid, the subject Arbitration Agreement must have (1) competent parties; (2) legal

subject matter; (3) valuable consideration; and (4) mutual assent. Absent any one of these elements, the Arbitration Agreement is invalid.”). “To be a competent party, the person or entity signing the Arbitration Agreement must have had the authority to do so.” *Id.*

“The contractual concept of ‘meeting of the minds’ or ‘mutual assent’ relates to the parties having the same understanding of the terms of the agreement reached.” *Messer v. Huntington Anesthesia Grp., Inc.*, 222 W. Va. 410, 418, 664 S.E.2d 751, 759 (W.Va. 2008) (citation omitted). For “mutual assent” to exist, “it is necessary that there be a[n] . . . offer on the part of one party and an acceptance on the part of the other.” *Bailey v. Sewell Coal Co.*, 190 W.Va. 138, 437 S.E.2d 448, 450 (W.Va. 1993). “Both the offer and acceptance may be by word, act or conduct that evince the intention of the parties to contract.” *Id.* at 450-51. Mutual assent “may be shown by direct evidence of an actual agreement or by indirect evidence through facts from which an agreement may be implied.” *Id.* at 451.

Applying this standard for contract formation, it is clear that the present case involves a disputed question of material fact over the very existence of a contractual arbitration agreement. Respondent maintains that the agreement was never formed because Mr. Vandall at no time had authority to sign the agreement on behalf of his mother, Ms. Shumaker, and as such, he is not a competent party to the agreement as required by the rules governing contracts. The direct evidence here shows that Ms. Shumaker did not sign the agreement on her own behalf, despite being cognitively intact (JA_93) and in possession of decision-making capacity (JA_99). Petitioners contend that they relied on Mr. Vandall’s alleged apparent authority in executing the agreement and seeking to enforce the Arbitration Agreement.

Because the FAA requires a court to decide whether an agreement to arbitrate exists before it may order arbitration, the circuit court was correct in examining whether a contractual agreement to arbitrate was formed before it could order arbitration in the instant case. This is a “necessary prerequisite to the court’s fulfilling its role of determining whether the dispute is one for an arbitrator to decide under the terms of the arbitration agreement.” *Sandvik AB v. Advent Intern. Corp.*, 220 F.3d 99, 107 (3d. Cir. 2000). *See also AT & T Techs. v. Comms. Workers of Am.* 475 U.S. 643, 651 (1986) (holding that it is the court’s duty to interpret the agreement and to determine whether the parties intended to arbitrate grievances).

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that a party’s assent to an arbitration provision is a question for the court. *See Snowden v. CheckPoint Check Cashing*, 290 F.3d 631, 637 (4th Cir. 2002). In making such a decision, the court is obliged to conduct a factual inquiry when a party unequivocally denies “that an arbitration agreement exists,” and “show[s] sufficient facts in support” thereof. *See Chorley Enters., Inc. v. Dickey’s Barbecue Rests., Inc.*, 807 F.3d 553, 564 (4th Cir. 2015). Numerous courts in other jurisdictions have considered the threshold question of contract existence and determined that it is a question for the court to decide. *See, e.g., I.S. Joseph Co. v. Michigan Sugar Co.*, 803 F.2d 396, 399 (8th Cir. 1986) (If there is in fact a dispute as to whether an agreement to arbitrate exists, then that issue must first be determined by the court as a prerequisite to the arbitrator’s taking jurisdiction”); *Camping Constr. Co. v. District Council of Iron Workers, Local 378*, 915 F.2d 1333, 1340 (9th Cir. 1990) (“The court must determine whether a contract *ever* existed; unless that issue is decided in favor of the party seeking arbitration, there is no basis for submitting any question to an arbitrator.”) (emphasis in original); *Will-Drill Res., Inc. v. Samson Res. Co.*, 352 F.3d 211 (5th Cir. 2003) (Even though there is signed document

containing arbitration clause which parties do not dispute they signed, court is not required to presume that there is valid contract and send any general attacks on agreement to arbitrator).

Courts in other jurisdictions have also held that the question of whether a particular individual has authority to bind a party must be determined by the court, not by an arbitrator. *See Par-Knit Mills, Inc. v. Stockbridge Fabrics Co.*, 636 F.2d 51 (3d Cir.1980); *N & D Fashions, Inc. v. DHJ Indus., Inc.*, 548 F.2d 722 (8th Cir. 1976); *Smith Wilson Co. v. Trading & Dev. Establishment*, 744 F. Supp.14 (D.D.C. 1990); *Ferreri v. First Options, Inc.*, 623 F.Supp. 427 (E.D.Pa.1985).

II. Because no contract was formed, the delegation clause within is invalid, and the circuit properly decided the issue of enforceability.

Petitioners' reliance on the delegation provision to show error in the circuit court's decision is misplaced as there was no container agreement to arbitrate formed, as explained above, and thus no valid delegation provision.

a. This dispute sits at the intersection of the severability doctrine and Section 4 of the FAA.

As articulated by the Supreme Court, the severability doctrine requires that an unchallenged delegation provision in a disputed contract be enforced as presumptively valid. *Rent-a-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63 (2010). Though delegation and arbitration clauses are generally severable from their larger contracts, the question of whether "the underlying contract contains a valid arbitration clause still precedes all others because 'arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit.'" *Sandvik*, 220 F.3d 99, 107 (3d. Cir. 2000) (quoting *AT & T Techs.*, 475 U.S. 648 (internal citation omitted)). The fact that agreements to delegate or arbitrate are severable "does not mean that they are unassailable." *Rent-a-Center* 561 U.S. at 71.

Under the FAA, courts retain the primary power to decide questions of whether the parties mutually assented to a contract containing or incorporating a delegation provision. *MZM Construction Co., Inc. v. New Jersey Building Laborers Statewide Benefit Funds*, 974 F.3d 386 (3d Cir. 2020). Lack of assent to the container contract necessarily implies a lack of assent to the arbitration or delegation provisions contained therein. *See China Minmetals Import and Export Co., Ltd. v. Chi Mei Corp.*, 334 F.3d 274, 288 (3d Cir. 2003) (“[A] contract cannot give an arbitral body any power, much less the power to determine its own jurisdiction, if the parties never entered into it.”) Just as a court needs to decide questions regarding the parties’ mutual assent to the container contract to determine if an arbitration agreement exists, it must do the same when the container contract includes or incorporates a delegation provision. *Id.*

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